
THE CORPORATION OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF MISSISSIPPI MILLS 

STAFF REPORT 
 
MEETING DATE:    March 5, 2025 
 
TO:  Heritage Advisory Committee 
 
FROM:                   Drew Brennan, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT:    Heritage Permit Application R01-CUR-24 - 7 Mill Street 

 
OWNER: Lanark Standard Condominium Corporation Number 17 

(Victoria Woolen Mills Condos) 
 
APPLICANT:    James Curry  
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT Heritage Advisory Committee recommend that Council approve the Major 
Heritage Permit to construct a fence on the subject lands municipally known as 7 
Mill Street, Almonte Ward, Municipality of Mississippi Mills following consideration 
of alternate design solutions. 

PURPOSE AND EFFECT:  
 
The purpose and effect of Heritage Permit Application R01-CUR-24 is to obtain 
approval for the installation of a fence on 7 Mill Street. The fence is proposed to restrict 
public access between the property and the Riverwalk viewing platform and trail. As 
noted in Attachment A, Heritage Permit Application, the applicant has indicated that 
restricting access will eliminate a potential safety hazard. 

BACKGROUND: 

The subject property is individually designated under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act 
and is also within the Almonte Downtown Heritage Conservation District (Part V of the 
Act); By-law 16-1978 which individually designates the subject property is provided by 
Attachment B.  
 
The property is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Mill Street and 
Almonte Street. The existing building, referred to as ‘The Victoria Woollen Mill’, was built 
in 1853 with a three (3) storey additional later constructed in 1862. Although the building 
was originally constructed as a woollen mill, it has historically been used for a variety of 
commercial uses. In 2008, the building was renovated and converted into a mixed-use 
condominium consisting of twelve (12) units with accompanying common elements and 



exclusive use areas. The condominium currently features both residential and 
commercial uses.  
 
Figure 1 below shows an aerial image of the subject property.  

Figure 1: Subject Lands 

 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 

The Applicant is proposing to erect metal rail fencing at the rear of the property; a 
sketch of the fence’s proposed location is provided in Attachment A. The proposed 
fence is approximately 1.2-metres in height and 10.9-metres in length. The fence will 
match and extend from existing fencing adjacent to the Woolen Mill out towards the 
eastern property line. The intent of the proposed fence is to address safety concerns by 
restricting public access to the Riverwalk viewing platform and trail from the Woollen 
Mills’ parking lot.  

During the condominium registration process, the Owners entered into an Easement 
Agreement with the Municipality regarding the section of Riverwalk at the rear of the 
property. The purpose of the easement is to preserve public access to the viewing 
platform and trail via access from the adjacent 27 Mill Street lot. The Applicant has 
provided a legal opinion with their Heritage Permit Application stating that the 
construction of a fence on the subject property to restrict access to the easement from 
the parking lot does not violate the Agreement as access to the viewing platform and 



trail would continue to be provided from the 27 Mill Street lot as intended. The 
Municipality’s Solicitor has reviewed this opinion and agrees with its conclusions. A 
diagram of the easement is provided by Attachment C. 

EVALUATION: 
 

Heritage Conservation District Plan 

All properties within the Heritage Conservation District (HCD) are designated under Part 
V of the Ontario Heritage Act and are subject to the HCD Plan. In 2019, a by-law was 
passed to amend the HCD to specifically exempt the construction of fences from the 
requirement for a Heritage Permit. Despite this, the subject property is also individually 
designated under Part IV of the Act, meaning that all exterior alterations to the property 
require a Major Heritage Permit. Although the HCD Plan exempts fencing from the need 
for a Heritage Permit, properties that are individually designated within an HCD, need to 
adhere to the policies and guidelines of the HCD Plan.  

The HCD Plan speaks to the value of the district as a river-based cultural landscape of 
which Riverwalk is a defined attribute. Section 4.2 of the HCD Plan encourages that 
development be considered within the context of its impact on the cultural landscape of 
the HCD and that public viewscapes of the Mississippi River be protected. It should be 
noted that there is an existing fence line on the subject property that abuts the 
Mississippi River. As the proposed fence is the same height as the existing fence, Staff 
anticipate that the fence will not increase the obstruction to the viewscape beyond the 
current condition; however, the proposed fencing represents an added intervention that 
could obstruct the public viewscape of the Mississippi River from Mill Street because of 
the well established ‘desire line’ through the parking lot to the viewing platform.  

Section 4.2.4 of the Plan states that the design of new interventions, such as fences, in 
and adjacent to the waterway will reinforce the primacy and significance of existing 
natural features. These interventions should preserve views of the character-defining 
elements of the river and its adjacent areas. While the proposed fence may introduce 
confusion regarding how to access the Riverwalk viewing platform and trail, it does not 
interfere with the easement and the publicly accessible path to and from the platform. 
Staff are of the opinion that the primacy and significance of the Mississippi River are 
upheld through the preservation of Riverwalk. 

Despite above, Staff are of the opinion that there are less intrusive design solutions to 
address the issue of the public crossing through the private parking lot to access the 
Riverwalk viewing platform and trail. If the permit was to be approved and the fence was 
constructed, the resulting area would be largely overcrowded with fencing which could 
take away from the cultural landscape. In addition, as the parking lot is a well-
established desire line (route) to the viewing platform, pedestrians may end up crowding 
at the new fencing, rather than backtracking to access the platform from the Riverwalk 
pathway.  

Design interventions that integrate with the surrounding environment and minimize 
visual impact on the river’s character-defining elements would be more in keeping with 
the policies of the HCD Plan and its emphasis on protecting the cultural and natural 



heritage of the area. Signage indicating that access to the viewing platform should be 
accessed via the Riverwalk at the entrance to the private parking lot is a design 
intervention that may integrate better and minimize visual impact. Staff are supportive of 
signage as a first step in a design intervention and failing this, considering the proposed 
fencing as the next intervention.  
 
SUMMARY: 

Having reviewed and assessed the proposed Heritage Permit application, Staff are 
satisfied that that proposal is consistent with the Heritage Conservation District Plan but 
are of the opinion that there are alternate design solutions that would better align with 
the intent of the Plan.  

Respectfully submitted by,  Approved by, 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Drew Brennan 
Senior Planner 

 Melanie Knight 
Director of Director of Development 
Services and Engineering  

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
 

1. Attachment A – Major Heritage Permit Application 
2. Attachment B – By-law 16-1978  
3. Attachment C – Easement Map  
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